## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC06-615

PERRY ALEXANDER TAYLOR, Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

DAVID R. GEMMER ASSISTANT CCRC-MIDDLE FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 370541 OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE SUITE 210 TAMPA, FL 33609-1004 (813) 740-3544 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Taylor was indicted by the grand jury in Hillsborough County, Florida, on November 2, 1988. 1989ROA Vol. IX 1047-48.<sup>1</sup> He was charged with first degree murder and sexual battery/great force. He pled not guilty. Jury trial commenced on May 8, 1989. The jury found Mr. Taylor guilty of the crimes charged. 1989ROA Vol. IX 1173. The jury rendered a sentencing recommendation of death 1989ROA Vol. IX 1179. On May 12, 1989, the judge sentenced Mr. Taylor to death as to the first degree murder conviction and to life in prison on the sexual battery count. 1989ROA Vol. VI 788, Vol. IX 1182-87 (written findings).

A timely direct appeal was filed and the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed Mr. Taylor's convictions but remanded the case for resentencing before a jury on the first degree murder conviction. *Taylor v. State*, 583 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1991). The jury rendered a recommendation of death by a vote of eight to four (1992

<sup>1</sup> Citations to records of the three lower court proceedings in this case will be: 1989ROA Vol. # page# -- the 1989 and 1992 trial transcripts are consecutively numbered and were placed at the front of each record on appeal 1992ROA Vol. # page#

2007ROA Vol. # page# -- transcripts were prepared by several reporters using separate pagination, but the transcripts are included within the record consecutively renumbered to provide unambiguous pagination for record reference 2007ROA SUPP Vol. # page # -- pagination restarted at "1," transcripts again consecutively renumbered for unambiguous reference ROA Vol. IV 598, Vol. V 799). The judge sentenced Mr. Taylor to death. The resentencing court entered written findings of fact (1992 ROA Vol. V 812-817).<sup>2</sup>

A timely direct appeal was filed and the Supreme Court of Florida again affirmed Mr. Taylor's death sentence. *Taylor v. State*, 638 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Taylor filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on November 14, 1994. *Taylor v. Florida*, 115 S. Ct. 518 (1994). Mr. Taylor timely filed his Rule 3.850 motion March 12, 1996.

In 1999, Florida Supreme Court Chief Judge Major B. Harding ordered the special appointment of Judge Robert A. Young of the Tenth Judicial Circuit to the Thirteenth Circuit because two of Mr. Taylor's trial attorneys had become circuit court judges in Hillsborough County. 2007ROA Vol. III 550. Ultimately, the Honorable J. Michael McCarthy of the Tenth Circuit presided over the evidentiary hearing in this case. A preliminary order after hearing before a predecessor post-conviction judge had limited evidentiary proceedings to Claims V and XI of the Third Amended Motion. The lower court held evidentiary hearings on October 7,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The judge found the following aggravating factors: (1) Taylor had a previous felony conviction involving the use or threat of violence; (2) the capital felony occurred during the commission of a sexual battery; and (3) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. The court found no statutory mitigators but did give some weight to Taylor's deprived family background and the abuse he was reported to have suffered as a child. The court considered but gave little weight to Taylor's remorse, to psychological testimony that while Taylor has above-average intelligence, he suffers from an organic brain injury, and to testimony concerning Taylor's good conduct in custody.

Taylor v. State,, 638 So.2d 30, 31-32 (Fla. 1994).

2003, June 6-7, 2004, and March 3, 2005. The court also heard and considered a

Fourth Amended Motion To Vacate Judgments Of Conviction And Sentence,

granting the motion to amend in part, denying the motion in part. 2007ROA

SUPP. Vol. I 95-212 (Fourth Amended Motion);<sup>3</sup> 2007ROA Vol. 5 787 (order).

VII. Ineffective mental health assistance as to guilt issues.

IX. Prosecutorial misconduct at resentencing.

XII. Innocent of the death penalty.

XIII. Automatic aggravator of sexual battery.

XIV. Prior felony conviction, an aggravator, was wrongfully obtained.

XV. Facial vagueness of aggravator statue/

XVI. Resentencing jury confused by instructions and comments diluting its sense of responsibility.

XVII. Burden of proof at sentencing unconstitutionally shifted to defendant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The issues raised in the Fourth Amended Motion, all raised as violations of state and federal constitutional protections, were:

I. The transcripts of the trials were so inaccurate they deprived the defendant of the ability to adequately appeal or seek postconviction relief.

II. Mr. Taylor's inculpatory statements to police were not knowing and voluntary due to mental impairment.

III. Prosecutorial misconduct in the guilt phase of trial.

IV. Mr. Taylor was absent from critical stages of trial.

V. Mr. Taylor was denied an adversarial testing at the guilt-innocence phase of his capital trial due to the state's suppression of critical, exculpatory, and impeachment evidence; the trial court's erroneous rulings; and defense counsel's failure to investigate and present evidence, all in violation of the sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments to the united states constitution.

VI. The state failed to prove corpus delicti to allow the use of Mr. Taylor's inculpatory statements as to the death and sexual battery allegations.

VIII. Ineffective assistance and deprivation of due process when the defense was prevented from presenting evidence of the victim's alleged drug abuse and prostitution, relevant to consent.

X. Ineffective assistance of mental health experts as to mitigation issues.

XI. Due to counsel's failure to investigate and present evidence in support of mitigating circumstances, Mr. Taylor was denied his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and similar provisions of the Florida Constitution.

The trial court denied all claims. 2007ROA Vol. 5 717-85.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## **TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE IN GUILT AND PENALTY TRIALS**

Mr. Taylor is on death row for the death of Geraldine Birch. When police first spoke with Mr. Taylor, he denied involvement. After volunteering to give the police the sneakers he wore the night of the death, police matched the shoes prints to prints found at the scene. Confronted with this evidence, Mr. Taylor ultimately confessed to kicking the victim. He told police the victim took him to the baseball dugout where her body was later found, and they attempted vaginal intercourse for about a half minute. The victim stopped the attempt and began to perform fellatio. Mr. Taylor told police she was nicking his penis and he repeatedly asked her to

XVIII. Death penalty statute is unconstitutional.

XIX. Defense pathology investigation for resentencing was deficient.

XX. Cumulative error.

XXI. Nixon Claim.

XXII. Mr. Taylor is wrongfully convicted of sexual battery, the result of *Brady* and *Giglio* violations by the state, ineffective assistance of trial counsel, and demonstrated by newly discovered evidence. The court denied the motion to amend to add this claim because it was "already adequately raised in the existing pleadings." 2007ROA Vol. V 787.

XXIII. Ineffective assistance for failure to present testimony of victim's sister regarding penalty. Waived by defendant.

XXIV. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to present testimony of the victim's daughter at the guilt phase as to the victim's pre-existing friendship with the defendant. Denied as untimely and because the daughter said she would not have testified in 1989. Also subject to ore tenus motion for continuance to develop the claim as newly discovered evidence, denied by the court.

stop, until he suddenly went off in a rage and first choked her, then kicked her. He did not know she was dead when he left.

The state made much of the fact that Mr. Taylor originally denied having vaginal intercourse with the victim, but he shortly thereafter mentioned the fact to another detective assigned to take hair samples and pictures. Detective George McNamara testified in the first trial that Mr. Taylor denied having vaginal sex during his interrogation. 1989ROA Vol. II 164. Mr. Taylor denied he concealed the vaginal sex. He testified that the police never asked him about it. He didn't mention it because it was never asked and the police questioning constantly interrupted him so he could not give full answers. 1989ROA Vol. IV 503-04. In rebuttal at the 1989 trial, Detective McNamara testified that he specifically asked Mr. Taylor if he had vaginal sex and the defendant denied it. 1989ROA Vol. IV 531. At the 1992 retrial on the penalty phase, Detective McNamara testified that when he asked Mr. Taylor about vaginal sex, Mr. Taylor told him instead about the oral sex. 1992ROA Vol. II 259.

At the first trial, Associate Medical Examiner Dr. Lee Miller testified that the victim was dead before the final blows were administered and that all of the injuries in the genital area were, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, caused by the insertion of a large object which distended the area and cause both the "inside" and "outside" lacerations. 1989ROA Vol. I 82-87. He also said that,

to a reasonable degree of pathological probability, the genital injuries were not caused by blows. 1989ROA Vol. I 98-100.

At the penalty retrial, Dr. Miller's testimony changed as to the cause of lacerations in the victim's perineal area. In 1989 he testified that, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, the perineal lacerations were from distention by an inserted large object. He had no opinion in 1992, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, but opined "I'm not really sure how that larger tear on the outside was sustained. It's not really typical of something large being inserted into the vagina, although that is a possibility. It's too far away." 1992ROA Vol. II 313. He testified the perineal wounds could have been caused by a kick. 1992ROA Vol. II 321.

In the 1992 penalty trial, Mr. Taylor's grandmother testified that Mr. Taylor's mother was about 50-52 years of age at the time of the 1992 trial, that she could not read or write, and that she had suffered a brain hemorrhage as a child. 1992ROA Vol. III 409.

## TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE IN POST-CONVICTION EVIDENTIARY PROCEEDINGS

#### I. Medical Examiner and Autopsy

#### A. Dr. Lee Miller

Dr. Miller was an associate medical examiner for Hillsborough County from 1974 through 2002. He had training in pathology and incidental training in

forensic pathology and was board certified in forensic pathology. He had no special expertise in gynecology or toxicology.

Dr. Miller performed the autopsy on the victim, Geraldine Birch, the afternoon of October 25, 1988, 30 to 40 hours after the body was discovered. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1921. Dr. Miller identified Defense Exhibit 2 as a draft autopsy report he prepared. At first he thought he had prepared a prior draft autopsy report, but he could find no such prior draft in his file and assumed Defense Exhibit 2 was the only draft. 2007ROA VOL. XII 1922. He testified that he made the changes on the draft to delete the actual lab reports of acid phosphatase levels so that the final report indicated that acid phosphatase levels were "negative." 2007ROA 1923. The only microscopic examination he did was on slides of bodily fluids which were negative for spermatozoa. Dr. Miller said there might be some slides with these sample still kept at the Medical Examiner's Office. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1923.

Dr. Miller testified that he excised an apparent bite mark from the victim's arm. He said he preserved it for a couple years, but the specimen was discarded after the first trial – specimens are routinely discarded after trial. 2007ROA 1924-25. Dr. Miller had no training in forensic odontology (mis-transcribed in the transcript as "autology."). He called in a forensic odontologist, Dr. Longmire of Tampa (mistranscribed as "Lonmeir"). 2007ROA Vol. XII 1925. Although his draft report indicated there was a report by Dr. Longmire, that assertion was

deleted from the final report. Dr. Miller could not recall if he ever saw a report from the odontologist. He admitted he was remiss in failing to follow up with the odontologist and wished he had done so. Dr. Miller could not recall telling defense counsel about Dr. Longmire. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1926.

Dr. Miller testified that State Exhibit 24 from the 1992 trial (and also introduced in the 1989 trial), a photograph of some of the injuries to the victim, accurately showed a one half inch perineal laceration, 2007ROA 1928-30, and two smaller lacerations closer to the victim's external genital area, but still in the perineum, 2007ROA Vol. XII 1932. However, Exhibit 24 did not show all of the genital injuries. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1933.

At the evidentiary hearing, the defense introduced Defense Exhibits 9 and 10, prints of slides taken by Dr. Miller during the autopsy. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1935. Dr. Miller testified that Defense Exhibit 9 best showed the victim's genital injuries. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1936. He said that the victim "had a very patulous, meaning loose or floppy, vagina, and you can't see a clear cut canal." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1937. The autopsy report indicated "On the inside of the labia minora, the ventral 180 degrees, are parallel or radial lacerations extending just through the mucosa measuring to one-third inch, approximately ten in all." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1940. Dr. Miller testified that regardless of his writing, the photograph (Def. Exh. 9), showed some of the ten radial lacerations "inside the labia minora in which I think anybody would describe as the vaginal canal." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1941.

Dr. Miller testified that he did not have to use a speculum to review or reveal the interior of the vagina for the autopsy photographs. All of the injuries he observed during the autopsy in the genital area were shown in the photograph introduced as Defense Exhibit 9. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1940-42.

Dr. Miller testified that when he uses the word "probably" in rendering opinions "to a reasonable degree of medical probability," "it's much better than 51 percent, which I'm told is the legal term for probably. I don't use probably if I think something's a coin flip. I have to be pretty sure." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1944. Dr. Miller claimed that he told attorneys that his standard differed from theirs when they asked him about a reasonable degree of pathological probability. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1944. Asked whether he volunteered the distinction or made the distinction when asked, Dr. Miller said "Sometimes I – sometimes it just, it just comes out, I don't know. It's come up dozens and dozens of times and everybody disagrees on that point. And so I usually try to make it clear, but I can't guarantee that." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1944-45. "Probably gives you a little room to wiggle, I would think." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1946.

Dr. Miller then agreed that his testimony during the guilt phase of the 1989 trial was that, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, using Dr. Miller's "almost to a certainty" standard, the perineal and ten redial injuries were all caused by stretching from insertion of a large object. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1948. Dr. Miller also agreed that he testified in 1989 that the injuries, to an unspecified reasonable

degree of medical probability, were not caused by blows to the external perineal area, but he couldn't rule out the possibility. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1947. 1989ROA Vol. I 98-100.

Dr. Miller also agreed that he testified in the 1992 resentencing proceeding, regarding the lacerations in the perineal area, "I'm not really sure how that larger tear on the outside was sustained. It's not really typical of something being inserted in the vagina, although that's a possibility. It's too far away.... There are any number of possibilities [how the larger perineal tear was inflicted]. I don't really have any degree of certainty about that, about that one." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1948-49 (quoting from 1992ROA Vol. II 313).

Dr. Miller then volunteered that his opinion of what caused the genital injuries had changed, based on the conclusions of Dr. Wright, a witness for the defense in this post conviction proceeding (testimony summarized after this section):

## [T]here was something that wasn't brought up by any of the attorneys in any of those depositions you referred to and perhaps I should have brought it up myself. It was brought up by a subsequent witness whose deposition I read.

....Dr. Wright said that the injuries to the inside of the vagina were sustained – probably sustained by a kick or a blow. Whereas, I had said they were sustained by a stretch injury.... I agree that if a blow had been struck where the toe of the shoe actually went, went into the vagina stretching the vagina it would have introduced the injuries that I've described.

.... I did not describe originally the inserting of an object and the attorneys didn't bring it out that it could have been a hard blow

from a shoe going directly in. That didn't come up and it certainly seems **a reasonable possibility, maybe even a probability**, in reading Dr. Wright's testimony.

**I'm saying that [the ten radial lacerations] could have been the result of a kick.** One of many scenarios where something went in there that was wider than the vagina and stretched it. We talked about kicks and blows earlier on. But the subject of the shoe or the foot actually entering the vaginal canal didn't come up. That was – it's a one-in-a-million shot.

Q What do you mean a one-in-a-million shot?

A Well, it's you can kick somebody an awful lot in that area and not have your tow actually go up into that narrow vaginal canal.

## 2007ROA Vol. XII 1949-51.

Dr. Miller examined the defendant's shoes which were identified in the 1989

trial as the shoes the defendant wore at the time of the homicide. Dr. Miller agreed

that

# A Any shoe, including a shoe of that size, would be capable of penetrating this lady's vagina. She had a very large vagina and it was kind of pouching to the outside.

Q Is there a specific medical term for that, that pouching and largeness?

- A Extraversion.
- Q Extraversion?
- A Extraversion. Protrusion.

## 2007ROA Vol. XII 1955.

Dr. Miller next explained why he altered a draft autopsy report to delete a

lab report of actual levels of acid phosphatase ("AP," a chemical marker for

semen) found in samples from the victim. He said that "negative" did not mean

the complete absence of AP. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1959. Dr. Miller testified that

when he gave a deposition in 1989 in which he stated that there was no acid phosphatase found, he mentally defined AP as "the presence of seminal acid phosphatase." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1965. He also affirmed that he testified in the 1989 discovery deposition that his report that the victim was negative for AP "are the results of the laboratory's analysis . . . ." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1965.

Dr. Miller admitted that he had no recollection of ever telling the attorneys involved in Mr. Taylor's case what he meant by "negative" when reporting on acid phosphatase test results. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1968. He said he would not be surprised if one of the attorneys on the case did not understand that tests could show the presence of acid phosphatase but still be "negative" for acid phosphatase. 2007ROA Vol. XII 1967. Then he said he would be a little surprised, even though he knew one of the attorneys in this case did not understand that lab results showing the presence of acid phosphatase could still be reported as "negative." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1947-48. He could not recall which attorney believed "negative" meant "zero," but he said he had to explain the matter to the attorney, but he wasn't really 100 percent sure. He did recall that he had to explain that "negative" did not mean "zero" to many attorneys. Dr. Miller didn't think such an explanation had been given in any deposition or at trial in this case. "But probably in previous cases at one time or another it was." 2007ROA Vol. XII 1968.

Dr. Miller testified that acid phosphatase deteriorated rapidly after death, half gone in 24 hours, almost all gone in 48 hours, most of the time. 2007ROA

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