IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PERRY ALEXANDER TAYLOR,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-615 L.T. No. CF 88-15525

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF POST-CONVICTION RELIEF
THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0327832
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: Sufficiency of the Evidence (Sexual Battery), IAC/Guilt Phase, Brady/Giglio, and Newly Discovered Evidence

Taylor's challenge to the sufficiency of evidence of felony murder/sexual battery is procedurally barred in post-conviction. Moreover, Taylor failed to demonstrate any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under Strickland. Taylor's claim of "newly discovered" evidence is predicated on Taylor's flawed interpretation of Dr. Miller's post-conviction testimony, and the evidence continues to support a finding of sexual

battery. Further, the mere fact that various post-conviction experts may disagree does not constitute any Brady/Giglio claim.

Issue II: The IAC/Penalty Phase Claim

The Circuit Court correctly denied Taylor's IAC/penalty phase claim. During the 1992 penalty phase, defense counsel presented evidence of Taylor's remorse and his deprived family background, including abuse he suffered as a child in foster care. Defense counsel also presented evidence of Taylor's good conduct in custody and psychological testimony that while Taylor had above-average intelligence, he suffered from an organic brain injury. See, <u>Taylor</u> II, 638 So. 2d at 31-32. Taylor failed to demonstrate any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>.

Issue III: The "Newly Discovered" Evidence Claim / Sonya Davis

The Circuit Court correctly denied Taylor's 11th hour motion to amend his previously amended post-conviction motion and admit the post-conviction deposition of the victim's daughter, Sonya Davis. First, Taylor's motion was untimely under Rule 3.850/3.851. Second, Taylor's alleged "newly discovered" witness, Sonya Davis, would not have been willing to testify on Taylor's behalf at trial. Third, Davis' proffered deposition was inadmissible as substantive evidence. Fourth, Taylor failed to demonstrate that the facts on which his "newly discovered"

evidence claim is predicated were unknown and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence. Finally, not only did Taylor fail to meet the "due diligence" requirement, but he also failed to show that any alleged "newly discovered" evidence is of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE INTERMINGLED (1) PROCEDURALLY-BARRED "SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE" OF SEXUAL BATTERY CLAIM, (2) IAC/GUILT PHASE CLAIM, (3) BRADY/GIGLIO CLAIM, and (4) "NEWLY DISCOVERED" EVIDENCE CLAIM.

On direct appeal, <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 1991), this Court rejected Taylor's dual challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his convictions (premeditated murder and felony murder/sexual battery). In his first issue on this post-conviction appeal, Taylor now attempts to resurrect a procedurally-barred challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence of sexual battery. Taylor's post-conviction challenge to the sexual battery is now asserted under the guise of (1) IAC/guilt phase, (2) <u>Brady/Giglio</u>, and (3) "newly discovered" evidence claims. Taylor intermingles these independent legal claims in an apparent attempt to disguise the undeniable fact that his sufficiency of the evidence challenge to sexual battery was previously rejected on direct appeal and

is procedurally barred in post-conviction.⁵

Standards of Review

In <u>Dillbeck v. State</u>, 2007 Fla. LEXIS 845 (Fla. 2007), this Court recently reiterated the following standards of review applicable to IAC claims:

We review claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under the standard set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). As we stated in Wike v. State, 813 So. 2d 12, 17 (Fla. 2002), this standard requires a defendant to establish two prongs:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable. Id. (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687); see also Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 1998). Failure to establish either prong results in a denial of the claim. See Ferrell v. State, 918 So. 2d 163, 170 (Fla. 2005) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687).

To establish deficient performance under Strickland, "the defendant must show that counsel's

See, <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 949 So. 2d 980, 990 (Fla. 2006) (affirming trial court's summary denial of post-conviction claims as procedurally barred because they were or could have been raised on direct appeal, including Garcia's claims that the State presented insufficient evidence of burglary and sexual battery).

representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" based on "prevailing professional norms." 466 U.S. at 688; Wike, 813 So. 2d at 17. "A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

To establish prejudice, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." 466 U.S. at 694; see also Wike, 813 So. 2d at 17.

Finally, as to our standard of review, we defer to the trial court's findings of fact regarding the credibility of witnesses and the weight assigned to the evidence but review the deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo. Windom v. State, 886 So. 2d 915, 921 (Fla. 2004) (citing Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1034 (Fla. 1999)).

2007 Fla. LEXIS 845, at 6-8.

Brady & Giglio Standards

In <u>Lamarca v. State</u>, 931 So. 2d 838, 852 (Fla. 2006), this Court emphasized the following standards applicable to <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u> claims:

In <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963), the United States Supreme Court held that a prosecutor's suppression of evidence favorable to the accused "violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment." To establish a <u>Brady</u> violation, a defendant must establish three elements: (1) the evidence at issue was favorable to the defendant, because it was either exculpatory or impeaching; (2) the evidence was suppressed by the State; and (3) the suppression resulted in prejudice. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 921 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 2005). In Giglio v. United

States, 405 U.S. 150, 153-54, 92 S. Ct. 763, 31 L. Ed. 2d 104 (1972), the Supreme Court extended Brady to claims that a key state witness gave false testimony that was material to the trial. To establish a claim under Giglio, a defendant must prove (1) the testimony given was false; (2) the prosecutor knew the testimony was false; and (3) the statement was material. Suggs v. State, 923 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 2005). When reviewing these claims on appeal, our standard of review is similar to that employed in ineffective assistance of counsel claims. We defer to the trial court's findings of fact but independently determine whether the facts are sufficient to establish the elements required in each claim. Id.

Lamarca, 931 So. 2d at 852.

Newly Discovered Evidence

In <u>Jones v. State</u>, 709 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1998), this Court articulated a two-part test for newly discovered evidence:

- (1) The evidence must have existed but have been unknown by the trial court, the party, or counsel at the time of trial, and must not have been discoverable through the use of due diligence, and
- (2) the newly discovered evidence must be of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial.

Jones, 709 So. 2d at 521.

Procedural Bar

Post-conviction proceedings cannot be used as a second appeal, and any collateral challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is procedurally barred in post-conviction. See, <u>Howell v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 697, n.3 (Fla. 2004) (noting that to the extent that Howell questions the sufficiency of the evidence to establish either premeditation or felony-murder, these issues

are procedurally barred on collateral review); See also <u>Freeman</u>

<u>v. State</u>, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000) (holding that claims that were raised on direct appeal cannot be relitigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel).

Circuit Court's Ruling

In denying Taylor's intertwined (1) IAC/guilt phase, (2) Brady/Giglio, and (3) newly discovered evidence claims, the Circuit Court painstakingly set forth the following cogent analysis:

CLAIM V

MR. TAYLOR WAS DENIED AN ADVERSARIAL TESTING INNOCENCE PHASE AT THE GUILT -CAPITAL TRIAL DUE TO THE STATE'S SUPPRESSION OF CRITICAL, EXCULPATORY AND IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE; THE TRIAL COURT'S **ERRONEOUS** RULINGS; AND DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT EVIDENCE, ALL IN VIOLATION THE SIXTH, EIGHTH OF AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Mr. Taylor alleges that trial counsel failed to investigate the facts surrounding the offense and the state's theory of the case, and unreasonably failed to present an adequate defense. Mr. Taylor alleges that counsel rendered prejudicially ineffective assistance when he stipulated to the finding of the crime scene analyst regarding shoe pattern evidence. Mr. Taylor alleges that hair and fiber analysis by the FDLE was cursory, but counsel made no efforts to investigate and challenge the State's case. Taylor complains that there was no comparison of his known pubic hairs against hair found in the deceased's panties. Mr. Taylor argues that counsel for the defense failed to investigate the injuries caused to the deceased and thus failed to challenge the State's allegations of premeditated murder and of sexual battery/felony murder. The defense also claims that

defense counsel failed to investigate and present evidence which might have shown that the deceased has various pre-existing injuries sustained prior to the night of the alleged homicide. Mr. Taylor alleges that counsel did not request or was denied the assistance of an independent pathologist who could have investigated the timing of the injuries and could have shown that the injuries occurred prior to death or substantially after death, and that the Defendant was not the responsible party. Mr. Taylor claims that failure to pursue this avenue allowed the State to argue premeditated murder and the aggravating factors of heinous, atrocious and cruel, and committed while engaged in the commission of a sexual battery.

Mr. Taylor alleges counsel failed to investigate medical evidence that would have refuted the State's theory of sexual battery. The defense claims that counsel failed to obtain the assistance of a qualified odontologist who could have compared Mr. Taylor's dental records with marks on the body and shown that Taylor did not cause the marks. Mr. Taylor alleges that counsel failed to request a judgment of acquittal on the ground that there was no evidence before the jury concerning the age of the victim. Mr. Taylor alleges that counsel failed to present intelligent and knowledgeable defense. Mr. Taylor argues that counsel's theory of the case was that Mr. Taylor killed the decedent after she bit his penis during consensual sexual relations and that counsel did not present evidence to support his theory. Mr. Taylor alleges that counsel failed to pursue or convey a plea offer of life imprisonment with the Assistant State Attorney. Mr. Taylor argues that counsel failed to counter the States' arguments regarding injuries to Mr. Taylor's penis indicating sexual activity with the deceased was not consensual. The defense argues that counsel failed to effectively investigate and present evidence regarding the severity of the sustained by Mr. Taylor when his penis was bitten. Taylor alleges that counsel did not produce medical evidence to explain the injuries to Taylor's penis which were misleading in photographs shown with his penis in a flaccid state.

Mr. Taylor alleges that defense counsel provided ineffective assistance when he had the defendant demonstrate his physique to show his physical strength

and had him demonstrate how he choked the decedent. Taylor alleges that defense counsel ineffective when he failed to request a pre-trial in camera proceeding to ensure that the court would permit testimony regarding the deceased's drug usage and sexual conduct. Mr. Taylor also alleges that defense counsel was ineffective for putting his client on the stand without adequate preparation. defense alleges that counsel failed to have Mr. Taylor adequately evaluated by a competent mental health professional who could have testified that Taylor's mental condition, organic brain damage, and intoxication precluded premeditation. Mr. Taylor claims that this omission deprived the jury information that would have supported a verdict of second degree murder and/or a sentence of less than The defense alleges that counsel failed to object to the prosecutor asking improper questions and engaging in blatant and pervasive misconduct. defense also claims defense counsel was ineffective for allowing witnesses to testify to inadmissible hearsay in violation of Mr. Taylor's rights. addition, Mr. Taylor alleges counsel was ineffective in not assuring Mr. Taylor's jury consisted of a fair cross section of the community. Mr. Taylor also alleges that he did not receive a fair trial because of the cumulative effect of counsel's errors.

The Court finds that the defense has failed to demonstrate any deficiency or resulting prejudice from the performance of guilt phase attorney Nick Sinardi, Esq. Mr. Sinardi hired investigator, Bill Brown, who spent many hours investigating Mr. Taylor's case. Mr. Sinardi testified at the evidentiary hearing that the case didn't involve an identity issue. He testified that based on Mr. Taylor's statement and confession the issue became the degree of his involvement. Defendant agreed that he had sex with the victim. Sinardi had no reason to believe that the victims vaginal injuries were caused by someone other than Mr. Taylor. The Court finds Mr. Sinardi made a reasonable tactical decision that the best available defense was that it was not premeditated or felony murder but was in fact depraved mind and consensual sex, seconddegree murder. Mr. Sinardi testified at the evidentiary hearing that he vigorously tried to get witnesses to substantiate the issue of consent because the victim had a history of drugs and prostitution. However, the Court excluded the witnesses from coming before the jury.

Mr. Sinardi testified that he had no reason to believe Dr. Miller was not telling the truth in the autopsy report and he saw no reason to hire a medical examiner in light of the facts and the defense. Although the defense presented testimony from Dr. Wright in an attempt to show deficiencies in Miller's examination of the victim, the Court does not find that it has shown that Dr. Miller performed his medical examination in an incompetent manner. Court notes that the testimony of Dr. Lynch substantially supported the findings of Dr. Miller. Although the defense tried hard to show some kind of deficiency in Mr. Sinardi's preparation questioning regarding injury to the victim's vagina, both Dr. Miller and Dr. Lynch's testimony supported tears in the vaginal area caused by penetration. Sinardi testified that during the course of representation of Mr. Taylor, he saw no reason to suspect he had competency issues. The Court finds that counsel made a reasoned strategic decision to have Mr. Taylor take the stand to humanize him to the Mr. Sinardi testified it was part of the jury. defense to show the defendants physical strength in contrast to the frail nature of the victim. testified it was to show that Mr. Taylor was a big powerful man that became enraged and did not have the intent to kill the victim. The Court does not find any basis for Mr. Taylor's claims that defense counsel failed to pursue or convey a plea offer of life imprisonment, that witnesses were allowed to testify inadmissible hearsay, and that counsel ineffective in not assuring Mr. Taylor's consisted of a fair cross section of the community. The Court finds that any deficiencies that might have existed in counsel's representations of Mr. Taylor do not have the cumulative effect of denying him a fair trial.

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